IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



RONALD WOODS,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By. Chief Deputy Glerk CASE NO. 64,509

MAR 8 1985

v.

24.25

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR UNION COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD	WOODS,	:
	Appellant,	:
v.		:
STATE C	DF FLORIDA,	:
	Appellee.	:
		:

CASE NO. 64,509

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Ronald Woods is the appellant in this capital appeal. The record on appeal consists of 15 volumes, and references to the record will be indicated by the letter "R" while references to the transcript itself will be indicated by the letter "T." References to the supplemental record on appeal will be indicated by the letters "SR."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Union County on June 7, 1983, charged Leonard Bean and Ronald Woods with one count of first degree murder, three counts of attempted first degree murder and one count each of possession of contraband in a state correctional institution (R-1-6).

Both men pled not guilty to the charges (R-11-12) and filed several pretrial motions. Of particular significance to this appeal, they filed the following motions:

 Motion for individual voir and sequestration of jurors during voir dire (R-64). Denied (R-784).

 Motion to exclude certain prospective jurors (correctional officers, their spouses, and relatives)
(R-70). Granted in part (R-435).

3. Motion for change of venue (R-425). Denied.

5. Motion to continue (R-47). Denied (R-814).

Bean and Woods proceeded to trial on September 26, 1983, before Judge R. A. Green. Woods was found guilty of the crimes charged, and Bean was found guilty of the murder and possession charges and one count of attempted murder (R-592-597).

Accordingly, Bean and Woods proceeded to the sentencing phase of the trial, and after hearing the evidence, argument, and instructions, the jury recommended by a vote of 9 to 3 for life for Bean, and 7 to 5 for death of Woods (R-600-601).

- 2 -

The court following these recommendations, sentenced Bean to life (R-681) for the murder followed by a consecutive sentence of 30 years for the attempted first degree murder (R-682) and 15 years for the possession of contraband conviction (R-683). The sentences are to be served consecutively (R-683).

The court sentenced Woods to death for the murder (R-653-657) and sentenced him to consecutive 30 year terms for the attempted first degree murder convictions (R-660-663) and 15 years for the possession of contraband conviction (R-663).

In sentencing Woods to death, the court found in aggravation that: (1) Woods was under sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder; (2) the murder was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any government function or the enforcement of laws (R-654).

The court found in mitigation that Woods was 18 years old (R-655).

This appeal follows.

- 3 -

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Sometime during the morning of May 5, 1983, Correctional Officers Dennard and Anderson counseled with Leonard Bean, an inmate at Union Correctional Institution about disobeying a verbal order that he had received earlier (T-1334). Bean accepted the reprimand without showing any signs of hostility (T-1347). Similarly, another officer had counseled with Woods that day about his refusal to work (T-1701-1703). Woods also did not seem very upset about this reprimand, and the officer did not think Woods was a serious problem when he released him (T-1716-1717).

Shortly before 2:00 p.m. that day inmate Taylor, a white man, overheard inmates Bean and Woods talking with other black inmates (R-1721). In particular, Bean and Woods said that they were tired of being pushed around and were going to "get some crackers back." (T-1722). "Crackers" meant a white person in general and a white correctional officer specifically (T-1737).

Several minutes later, Officers Dennard and Anderson were walking through the main housing unit at UCI (T-1335). They were about 15 feet from the office when Anderson felt something hit him in the back (T-1336). He turned and saw Woods with a knife in his hand preparing to stab him again (T-1336). Anderson paried the blow and moved to a nearby office (T-1336). He had to work his way through some inmates, but he finally was pulled inside

- 4 -

the office by Officers Rogers and Wilkerson (T-1336).

Meanwhile Bean was stabbing Dennard, and after Anderson was inside the office, Woods also stabbed Dennard (T-1337). Officer Harvey rushed towards Woods and pulled him off Dennard (T-1767). Woods stabbed Harvey (T-1765) and fled. Woods passed another officer, Barker and stabbed him (T-1766). Barker staggered a bit, and Woods took a couple of steps but acted as if he was going to return to Barber. Harvey, however, hollered at Barker and Woods fled (T-1786). Bean by this time had also disappeared.

Shortly thereafter, the prison superintendent and another guard went to cell G-9 (T-1803) where Bean and Woods were found with two other inmates (T-1805). The superintendent told them to come to the cell bars, but before Woods did so, a guard saw him give Bean a knife, and Bean hid it under a blanket (T-1805). Bean and Woods were then arrested, their cells searched, and additional weapons found (T-1809).

A subsequent search of the prison turned up some bloody clothing and an additional knife (T-1851). Because that clothing was not promptly sent away for examination, however, nothing more definite than the blood type of the stains found on the clothing was identified (T-1272-1273).

Dennard died on the operating table as a result of the stabwounds (T-1417).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Ronald Woods, a prison inmate at Union Correctional Institution stands convicted of first degree murder of a prison guard, the attempted first degree murder of three other guards, and possession of contraband inside a prison. Leonard Bean, his co-defendant, was also convicted of the murder and possession of contraband, but the jury convicted him of only one of the attempted first degree murder charges. The jury recommended death for Woods and life for Bean, and the court, following these recommendations, sentenced Bean to life and Woods to death.

Woods challenges this sentencing disparity as from the evidence of Woods' and Bean's character and the nature of the crime they committed, there is no sufficient distinction between the two men to justify such a gross sentencing disparity. Both men are mentally defective and had disastrous childhoods. They are easily led and cannot appreciate the consequences of their acts.

Similarly, both men were equally culpable of the murder, and the court, in sentencing Woods to death, found no aggravating factor that could not also apply to Bean. Even more significant, the court found in mitigation that Woods was 18. This fact could not have been applied to Bean who was 26.

That was the only mitigation found by the court. It rejected Woods' IQ of 69 as being insufficient to find that his ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct

- 6 -

was substantially impaired. The court, however, ignored the other unrebutted evidence that would have supported a finding of this statutory mitigating factor or at least would have supported some other non-statutory mitigation.

Had counsel had adequate time to prepare his case, he may have been able to present stronger evidence in mitigation and a stronger defense during the guilt phase of the trial. Counsel did not have this time, and the court, without any explanation, forced counsel to go to trial two months after he was appointed to represent Woods.

Counsel, despite his diligence, simply did not have sufficient time to prepare for this trial. The state disclosed to him the names of well over 100 persons who could possibly have relevant information about this case. Most of these men were inmates and many of them had been scattered throughout the state. Even on the first day of trial, counsel said he was not prepared for trial, and Bean's counsel filed a notice that he was also unprepared for trial.

At trial, counsel objected to the state's peremptory excusal of 75 per cent of the black prospective jurors. Nothing in either the state's or defense's voir dire suggested any reason for the state to peremptorily excuse so many blacks. Moreover, the state could not explain why it peremptorily excused two of the black prospective jurors. Because Woods had shown a substantial likelihood that the

- 7 -

state had impermissibly excused the blacks solely on account of their race, and the state could not explain why it had done so, the presumption exists that they were excused solely on account of their race.

Finally, during closing argument half of the spectators in the audience were Department of Correction employees who were in uniform. The court refused to clear the courtroom of these employees. As a result, Woods did not receive a fair trial because of their obvious intention to influence the jury by making a statement about the community's feelings about this case.

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING WOODS' MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR PEREMPTORILY EXCUSED BLACK PROSPECTIVE JURORS SOLELY BASED UPON THEIR RACE IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

During jury selection, Woods objected to the state's peremptory excusal of blacks from sitting on the jury:

(Thereupon, a discussion at the Bench was had as follows out of the hearing of the prospective jurors and the venire:)

MR. BERNSTEIN: My observation has been that the State has used five challenges.

MR. TOBIN: No, I believe it is ten.

MR. BERNSTEIN: Well, anyway, ten challenges with six of those for blacks. The State has removed every black that was on this jury.

MR. TOBIN: Nor, Your Honor, that is not true. The record will show that the defendants have removed blacks. I can get the names of those but six is simply not true. I forget the names of them, but I can.

THE COURT: Not all people were excused.

MR. BERNSTEIN: Well, Your Honor, I counted six of the ten were removed and those were blacks.

MR. TOBIN: That simply is not true.

MR. BERNSTEIN: I would have to object and move for a mistrial based upon the denial of a significant class of jurors of their peers. THE COURT: Motion denied.

MR. BERNSTEIN: Yes, Your Honor. (T-1232-1233).

Upon motion by appellate counsel, this Court relinquished its jurisdiction and ordered the trial court to reconstruct the record so that Woods could challenge the state's apparent racially motivated excusal of black prospective jurors.

Upon remand, the prosecutor and trial counsel agreed that nine blacks had been questioned, and the state had peremptorily excused six while Woods and Bean had each challenged one. One black venireman served as an alternate juror (SR-13). In <u>Neal v. State</u>, Case Nos. 63,899, 63,933, Florida opinion filed September 27, 1984, this Court rejected the test developed in <u>Swain v. Alabama</u>, 380 U.S. 202, 13 L.Ed.2d 759, 85 S.Ct. 824 (1965) to prove intentional and systematic exclusion of blacks from petit juries. In its place, this Court said the trial court should apply the following test:

> The initial presumption is that peremptories will be exercised in a non-discriminatory manner. A party concerned about the other side's use of peremptory challenges must make a timely objection and demonstrate on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they have been challenged solely because of their race. If a party accomplishes this, then the trial court must decide if there is a substantial likelihood that the peremptory challenges are being exercised solely on the basis of race. If the court finds no such likelihood,

no inquiry may be made of the person exercising the questioned peremptories. On the other hand, if the court decides that such a likelihood has been shown to exist, the burden shifts to the complained-about party to show that the questioned challenges were not exercised solely because of the prospective jurors' race. The reasons given in response to the court's inquiry need not be equivalent to those for a challenge for cause. If the party shows that the challenges were based on the particular case on trial, the parties or witnesses, or characteristics of the challenged persons other than race, then the inquiry should end and jury selection should continue. On the other hand, if the party has actually been challenging prospective jurors solely on the basis of race, then the court should dismiss that jury pool and start voir dire over with a new pool.

Applying the first step of this test to the facts in this case reveals that the defense counsel made a timely objection to the state's peremptory excusing of blacks (T-1232). The reconstructed record shows that the prosecutor exercised 13 peremptory challenges and of those 13 challenges, six were exercised against blacks (SR-13). Moreover, both Bean and Woods peremptorily excused a black venireman (SR-13). Thus, the state peremptorily excused 75 per cent of the blacks examined.

Of course that fact is important in determining whether there is a strong likelihood that blacks have been peremptorily challenged solely on account of their race. Also neither the state's examination or that of the defense revealed the reasons for the state's excusal of this very large percentage of blacks. The state, in this case, did nothing to somehow distinguish the black veniremen from the white. Defense counsel noticed the state's behavior, and at the reconstruction hearing, he explained why he objected to the state's use of its peremptory challenges against blacks:

> Q During the jury selection process you objected. Can you give us some of the background as to why you objected?

A Yes. At the time there was a challenge to Juror Thomas who was juror No. 308. I had made notations and there had been, I think, five jurors challenged who were black by the State.

On later reflection I discovered there had been one challenged by Mr. Bean's attorney who was black. So at the time of the objection I had stated there were six blacks challenged. There were six, but one of them was challenged by Mr. Bean's attorney.

The pattern seemed clear in that out of at least 50 percent of the State's challenges were removing all of the blacks who were seated.

* * *

At the time of the objection I had noticed this pattern of blacks being removed there had been no remarkable statements by the blacks who had been removed in the jury voir dire examination by either side. There were no real extremes.

The one juror who had been removed by Mr. Bean's attorney had worked for the prison system some, I think four years before, so he was acquainted with working for the Department of Corrections and had actually served as a guard. And that wasn't that remarkable, but it was the most remarkable of the blacks who had been removed.

And I felt it incumbent on me to bring that to the Court's attention through my objection. And at that time it seemed that there was a pattern of removing blacks from the jury. In fact, all the blacks who were seated there were removed from the jury and we did not have a black citizen serving on that jury. We had one, Ella Jane Perry, who was a woman who was seated as the alternate.

Q Before I get to Ms. Perry, there wasn't as far as you --

A Excuse me. That was Maybelle Webb that sat as the alternate. Ms. Perry was later challenged by myself.

Q As counsel in this case you could not see any reason other than race for these blacks being excused, is that correct?

A No. There was nothing that I could tell from the questioning and the answers that had been given at the time of the voir dire examination. And it just appeared to be a pattern.

The purpose of the objection was to one, raise the point, preserve the point and the issue and to at that time request the Court to make some further inquiry as to why that pattern appeared to be going on.

(SR-50-52).

Indeed, the state's examination of the veniremen was bland. Typically, it asked individual prospective jurors, black or white, the following questions:

THE COURT: You may inquire for the State.

MR. TOBIN: May it please the Court.

THE COURT: Mr. Tobin.

MR. TOBIN: Ms. Stewart, do you work outside of the home, ma'am?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: Yes.

MR. TOBIN: Where do you work at?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: Southern States.

MR. TOBIN: I am sorry.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: Southern States Sportswear.

MR. TOBIN: Where is that?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: Lake City.

MR. TOBIN: Where?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: Lake City.

MR. TOBIN: And are you married, ma'am?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: Yes, sir.

MR. TOBIN: What does your husband do?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: He is unemployed at the present time.

MR. TOBIN: And do you have any close friends or family with the Department of Corrections?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR STEWART: No, I don't.

MR. TOBIN: Our seating chart got messed up a while ago and, so, I have to look and shuffle around a little bit.

Mr. Fortner, what do you do for a living, sir?

(T-1089-1090).

Whatever other questions he asked of the prospective jurors, he addressed to the panel, and the responses were uniformly the same among the jurors.

In addition, nothing else distinguished these black prospective jurors from their white counterparts. There were black men (T-1226) and black women called, and the women either worked in the home or outside (T-880,989,1046). The blacks worked at jobs similar to the whites (T-1090, 1226), and from the record nothing exists to explain why these people were excused other than their race. See <u>People v. Wheeler</u>, 22 Cal.3d 258, 583 P.2d 748, 148 Cal. Rptr. 890 (1978). fn. 27.

Of course, the defense voir dire may have revealed reasons for the state peremptory challenge of a prospective juror.

In this case, however, the defense examination was almost as bland as the state's. See T-1052-1085.

Consequently when the state has excused 75 per cent of the blacks and has used half of its peremptory challenges to do so, there is a substantially likelihood that the blacks were excused solely on account of their race.

Of course, it would have been nice if the prosecutor had clearly announced his intention to strike all blacks from sitting, but as with most intent issues, we must use circumstantial evidence to determine the prosecutor's intent. In this case, that intent, while not absolutely clear, is sufficiently proven to require the state to explain its action.

That explanation largely revolved around a rating scheme the state had devised to evaluate prospective jurors. Before trial, the prosecutor and two unnamed "public officials" met and "went over each and every juror that was listed in the venire." (SR-25) Then, based upon

- 15 -

whether the person had a negative run-in with the law or whether he had strong death penalty convictions (SR-25), the prosecutor rated the person a one, two, or three. A "one" was pro-state, and a "three" was pro-defense (SR-26). A "two" was somewhere in the middle.

As should be expected, the prosecutor was unable to rate all of the people in the venire, and two of the blacks he excused, Bethea and Stewart, were unrated (SR-38). The remaining blacks were rated a three (SR-37-39) primarily because someone in their family had had a "negative" law enforcement experience.

Stewart and Bethea, however, posed a significant problem for the state on appeal:

Q So the two unrateds then would have been Joyce Bethea and Glenda Fay Stewart?

A Yes.

Q Do you recall why you peremptorily excused them?

A No.

(SR-40).

At this stage, Woods has carried his burden of showing that a substantial likelihood exists that the state has peremptorily excused black prospective jurors solely because of their race. The state must now carry its burden of explaining why it peremptorily challenged the blacks. If it cannot do so, this Court must assume that the state excused the blacks solely on account of their race. Thus, because the state did not explain why it excused Bethea or Stewart, the presumption exists that it excused them solely because they were black.

The peremptory excusal of two or even one prospective juror solely on account of their race is, as a matter of law, reversible error. A harmless type of analysis is not applicable as judicially recognized racial discrimination cannot be, even a little bit, tolerated. Excusing blacks from serving on petit juries simply because they are black is never excusable.

In <u>Rose v. Mitchell</u>, 443 U.S. 545, 61 L.Ed. 739, 99 S.Ct. 2993 (1979) the U.S. Supreme Court said a criminal conviction could not stand which was based upon an indictment returned by a grand jury in which there had been a deliberate, systematic exclusion of blacks from being selected as grand jury foremen.

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