IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



RONALD WOODS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 64,509

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR UNION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

LAWRENCE A. KADEN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue of whether Appellant should be given a new trial because of the prosecutor's allegedly improper excusal of black jurors should not be considered in this case because this Court has already held in State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), that the new rule of law announced in Neil should not be given retroactive effect. Appellant's jury was selected more than one year before Neil was decided, and there simply was no way for either the State or the court to predict that a new rule of Florida Constitutional law would be forthcoming. This is particularly true in light of this Court's statement in Neil itself that Neil would not be retroactive because of the extensive reliance on previous standards. Id. at 457 So.2d 488.

Assuming only for the sake of argument that the Court decides to apply the new rule in Neil to a "pipeline case," Appellant still is not entitled to relief. This is because unlike the situation in Neil, the Court is able to determine from the record how many jurors were excluded and the reasons for such exclusion. At the time the objection was made in the trial court, the State had excused four of the seven blacks which had been examined, the defense had excused one, and two jurors remained. This does not constitute a "substantial likelihood" that the black jurors were excused solely because of their race. Should the Court disagree, Appellant still is not entitled to relief because the prosecutor testified at the hearing on remand specifically that the black jurors were

not excused because of their race. Finally, this Court has available the trial court's finding that no discrimination occurred, and it is important to note that it was the trial court who was both present at trial and the hearing on remand, and it is he who is in the best position to determine the credibility of the prosecutor's testimony. Also relevant is the fact that at the time the jury was selected, the defense had numerous peremptory challenges still available.

A defendant claiming reversible error because of the failure of the trial court to grant a continuance has a heavy burden. Cooper v. State, 336 So.2d 1133, 1138 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 925, 97 S.Ct. 2200, 53 L.Ed.2d 239 (1977). The record reveals no abuse of discretion in this case. The record contains numerous pre-trial motions filed by the defense, and Appellant is simply unable to demonstrate any prejudice from the denial of the motions for a continuance. The State's case against Appellant was in the words of trial counsel "devastating," yet, as the trial court found, defense counsel did an outstanding job in this case.

Concerning whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied Appellant's motion to exclude the uniformed officers from the courtroom, this argument should fail because Appellant has offered no authority to support his argument. First, it is the State's position that this argument came too late because it came at the conclusion of the trial rather than prior to trial when an evidentiary hearing could have been held concerning the number of officers, their location in the

courtroom, etc. If Appellant really were unable to obtain a fair trial, he should have pursued his motion for change of venue, the denial of which has not even been raised on appeal. Finally, for Appellant to prevail on this issue, the Court would have to presume that the jury disregarded its instructions and its oath—and there is nothing in the record to support such conclusion.

The sole basis upon which Appellant asserts his death sentence is unconstitutional is that he should have been given the same life sentence his co-defendant received. However, the co-defendant received a life recommendation whereas Appellant received a death recommendation. Moreover, it was Appellant who committed the more reprehensible conduct in this case-including the stab wound which went through the victim's skull as the victim lay there begging for his life. As the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has noted in Antone v. Strickland, 706 F.2d 1534, 1538 (11th Cir. 1983), the Constitution does not guarantee equal treatment at sentencing--the Constitution is concerned with whether the defendant who got a death sentence deserves it and not whether his co-defendant should have received one also.

Concerning whether a mitigating factor about Appellant's character should have been found, this Court has already held that it will not second-guess a trial court's decision not to find a mitigating factor as long as the record reveals that the trial court was willing to consider all the evidence presented. Pope v. State, 441 So.2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983).

Appellant presented whatever evidence he wished, but the trial court was unpersuaded. Should the Court disagree with the trial court's determination, however, any error would have to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the trial court's failure to find three additional statutory aggravating factors which were clearly supported by the record and evidence adduced at trial. See §921.141(5)(b) & (h) & (i), Fla. Stat. Finally, this Court should not be persuaded that because of Appellant's low intelligence he deserved a mitigating factor.

See Ruffin v. State, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla.), cert. denied, 454

U.S. 882, 102 S.Ct. 368, 70 L.Ed.2d 194 (1981).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHICH ALLEGED THAT THE PROSECUTOR HAD BEEN SYSTEMATICALLY PEREMPTORILY EXCUSING BLACKS FROM THE JURY.

Appellant's first contention is that the trial court committed reversible error when it denied his motion for mistrial which had been based upon defense counsel's contention that the prosecutor had been systematically peremptorily excusing blacks from the jury. The State submits that this Court should not be persuaded by Appellant's argument for several reasons.

Initially, the State would point out that the case upon which Appellant has relied, State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), was not decided until September 27, 1984.

Appellant's jury was selected on September 26, 1983--one year before the new rule of constitutional law in Neil was announced by this Court. Since this Court squarely held in Neil at 457 So.2d 488 that Neil would not be retroactive, it simply would not be fair to hold both the State and the trial court to standards which were not yet in existence at the time Appellant's case was tried. This is especially true in light of this Court's recognition in Neil of the "extensive reliance on the previous standards," i.e., those established in Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. 824, 13 L.Ed.2d

759 (1965).

The State's argument that Neil should not be extended to cases "in the pipeline" is supported by the Court's recent decision in State v. LeCroy, 461 So.2d 88, 92 (Fla. 1984). In that case, this Court refused to apply retroactively the United States Supreme Court's opinion in Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981). Court relied upon Solem v. Stumes, U.S. , 104 S.Ct. 1338, 79 L.Ed.2d 579 (1984). In that case, the United States Supreme Court had recognized that retroactive application of Edwards would not serve the purpose of the rule, i.e., to deter misconduct. Also, this Court recognized in LeCroy that the Supreme Court had "expressly acknowledged that Edwards v. Arizona established a new rule--just as this Court announced that a new rule had been established in State v. Neil. See also Bowen v. United States, 422 U.S. 916, 95 S.Ct. 2569, 45 L.Ed.2d 641 (1975), which affirmed the lower court which had refused to apply retroactively the new constitutional principle announced by the Supreme Court in Almeida-Sanchez v. United States, 413 U.S. 266, 93 S.Ct. 1535, 37 L.Ed.2d 596 (1973), to cases "in the pipeline." Also relevant is Fuller v. Alaska, 393 U.S. 80, 89 S.Ct. 61, 21 L.Ed.2d 212, 214 (1968), which had refused to apply retroactively the principle announced in Lee v. Florida, 392 U.S. 378, 88 S.Ct. 2096, 20 L.Ed.2d 1166 (1968).

Should Appellant contend that by virtue of the fact that this Court remanded the case to the trial court to

determine the number of black jurors excluded that this Court has already decided to apply <u>Neil</u> retroactively to cases "in the pipeline," the State would respectfully disagree. <u>See Livingston v. State</u>, 441 So.2d 1083, 1085 (Fla. 1983), in which this Court explained that its denial of a petition for writ of prohibition was not a decision to which the principle of res judicata was applicable since this Court had not written an opinion upon which the parties could rely.

In addition to the State's argument that this Court's recognition in Neil itself that prior extensive reliance upon Swain v. Alabama dictated that Neil not be applied retroactively, a second reason exists. This reason is fairness-in State v. LaVazzoli, 434 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1983), this Court refused to apply retroactively the effect of the constitutional amendment to Art. I. Section 12 of the Florida Constitution concerning search and seizure. In that case, the defendant's probation had been revoked long before the constitutional amendment took effect. However, this Court relied upon a prior decision, State v. Dodd, 419 So.2d 333 (Fla. 1982), to approve the lower court which had reversed the revocation of probation -- even though the constitutional amendment had, in effect, wiped out the viability of Dodd. The State submits that fairness works both ways and that the people of the State of Florida are entitled to due process also. Stein v. New York, 346 U.S. 156, 197 (1953).

Assuming only for the sake of argument that the Court disagrees with the State's contention that <u>State v. Neil</u>

should not be applied retroactively to cases "in the pipeline," Appellant's argument must fail for a second reason. This is because at the hearing on remand the prosecutor stated under oath that he had not excused blacks peremptorily solely on the basis of race.

The record reveals that at the time defense counsel made his objection below, seven blacks had been examined (SR 14). Of those seven, four had been excused by the State, one had been excused by the defense, and two jurors remained. as Appellant's trial counsel admitted during the hearing on remand, he had been incorrect when he had accused the State of excusing all the blacks on the jury panel. Also relevant is the fact that of the nine black jurors who were examined, two of those were excused by the defense and one black juror actually served on the jury. It is significant that both the State and the defense had numerous peremptory challenges left at the time the jury was selected (SR 13). (The State takes exception to Appellant's brief at 11 in which it is alleged that the State excused 75% of the blacks examined--apparently it was overlooked by Appellant that a black juror actually served.)

In any event, assuming the Court concludes that at the time of the objection the State's excusal of four of the seven black jurors that had been examined at that time, or even at the time the jury was actually selected that the State's excusal of six of the nine black jurors who were examined, meets the first prong of the Neil test that there exists a

¹See Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984).

substantial likelihood that these jurors were excluded solely on the basis of race, Appellant's argument still must fail. is because the prosecutor testified under oath concerning his motivation and reasons for excluding the various black jurors. Because of this testimony, Appellant's argument concerning "circumstantial evidence" relying upon percentages is misplaced. The prosecutor, Mr. Tobin (who was a minority member himself, SR 32), clearly testified that he had not excused the black jurors solely on the basis of race (SR 32). This evidence was unrefuted by Appellant, and even Appellant's trial counsel admitted that (1) he had been mistaken when he had accused the prosecutor of excluding all the blacks on the jury panel and (2) he could not say on what basis Mr. Tobin had made his peremptory challenges (SR 53). It is interesting to note that the percentage of blacks excused by the State was much less than the percentage of whites (12 of 13) which had been excused by the defense!

The State submits that the prosecutor's unrefuted testimony under oath should end the matter. However, should the Court have any doubt, the State would point out that under the facts of this case, Appellant simply is unable to demonstrate any prejudice in the State's actions because at the time the jury was selected the defense had numerous peremptory challenges available and there were at least a dozen and perhaps as many as twenty-four (24) blacks remaining in the venire pool (SR 30). Finally, although the trial court felt that he did not have to make such a ruling, the trial court

stated on the record that were he directed to rule upon the issue he would find no discrimination (SR 54). The motion for mistrial was properly denied.

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO CONTINUE.

Appellant next complains that the trial court committed reversible error when it denied several of his motions to continue the trial. Again, the State emphatically disagrees and asserts that the Court should not be persuaded.

Initially, as counsel for Appellant has recognized, a defendant urging reversible error on the basis that the trial court denied a continuance has a heavy burden. This Court has made it abundantly clear that a trial court's decision whether to grant a continuance is addressed to the trial court's sound discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent a palpable abuse of discretion. See, e.g., Rose v. State, 461 So.2d 84, 86 (Fla. 1984), Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla.), cert. denied, ___ U.S. ___, 105 S.Ct. 229, 83 L.Ed.2d 158 (1984). Moreover, this is true even in death penalty cases. See Rose, supra, in which this Court recognized that in Cooper v. State, 336 So.2d 1133, 1138 (Fla. 1976), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 925, 97 S.Ct. 2200, 53 L.Ed.2d 239 (1977), that "[w]hile death penalty cases command our closest scrutiny, it is still the obligation of an appellate court to review with caution the exercise of experienced discretion by a trial judge in matters such as a motion for a continuance." Finally, this Court also recognized in Rose, supra, that in Magill v. State, 386 So.2d 1188, 1189 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 927, 101 S.Ct. 1384, 67 L.Ed.2d 359 (1981), that the requisite "palpable abuse of discretion" must clearly and affirmatively appear in the record. No such abuse of discretion appears in this case.

It should first be recognized that the trial court did grant Appellant's first motion for a continuance. <u>See</u> Order Granting Motion to Continue (R 110). Also, as counsel for Appellant has informed the Court, the trial court subsequently appointed an additional attorney and an investigator to assist Appellant's trial counsel (Brief of Appellant at 21). Thus, Appellant's defense was not overwhelmed as Appellant would attempt to lead this Court to believe.

The trial court specifically noted at sentencing that Appellant's counsel had done a thorough job preparing the case, and he commented about the great number of depositions of potential witnesses (R 656, 657). In addition to the trial court's comments, the State respectfully directs the Court's attention to the numerous pre-trial motions filed by Appellant's trial counsel. These motions were in addition to the motions filed by the co-defendant's trial counsel which were also applicable to Appellant.

Appellant has argued that notwithstanding all that was done, he could have done more if he had had more time. However, this argument is refuted by trial counsel's candid statement on the record that he could be effective with what he had done (R 1745). It should also be recognized that this same laywer admitted during the hearing on the motion for new trial

that the State's case had been "devastating," and that he still had never been able to determine why the murder had occurred (SR 61). He also candidly recognized that the denial of the motion for continuance had not affected the guilt phase of the trial (SR 62). In response to these statements, the prosecutor was quick to point out that the only witnesses that trial counsel had been unable to depose were witnesses who had informed the State that although they had been present in the area near the murder, they had seen nothing (SR 64). Consequently, none of these witnesses were used by the State and their names were given to the defense only because of strict compliance with the discovery rules. The prosecutor also argued that Appellant was unable to show prejudice because to that day no information had been developed although the trial had occurred more than a year prior to the hearing on the motion for new trial (SR 65).

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